

Technical Amendments
(12-22-2021)

Chapter 16, Subdivision Ordinance

Sec. 16-2-1. General Procedures. In all stages of the ~~subdivision-project~~ review process, the burden of proof shall be upon the applicant proposing the ~~subdivision project~~.

(c) Review Escrow Account. In addition to the application fees set by the Town Council, a Review Escrow Fee to defray the Town's costs for application review by the Town Engineer and/or other independent consulting services shall be provided. The fee shall be recommended by the Town Engineer or consultant and approved by the Town Manager upon initial review of the application and paid to the Town by the applicant prior to the next meeting with the Planning Board. The fee shall be deposited in a Review Escrow Account designated for that application. If the costs of application review by the Town Engineer and/or other consulting services exceed the amount of the Review Escrow Account, the applicant shall pay an additional fee to the Town that shall be recommended by the Town Engineer or consultant and approved by the Town Manager based upon the status of the application. Any balance in the account remaining after a final decision on the application by the Planning Board and satisfaction of any approval conditions shall be returned to the applicant unless there is an appeal or other legal action pending with respect to the Planning Board's approval. All interest from the Review Escrow Account shall accrue to the account and shall be applied toward the Town's cost in reviewing the application. No application amendment or new application for that project shall be submitted for review until any outstanding escrow account costs have been paid in full.

Sec. 16-2-6. Post Approval Requirements.

(a) Satisfaction of Planning Board Conditions of Approval. Following the Planning Board Decision, the ~~project-subdivision~~ plans and materials shall be revised by the applicant to comply with any conditions placed on the approval by the Planning Board. Two (2) sets of revised plans shall be submitted to the Planner. The Planner, and other town staff as necessary, shall review all plans for compliance with the Planning Board conditions of approval. The Planner shall determine whether the plans have been revised to comply with the Planning Board approval. If the applicant fails to obtain confirmation from the Planner that the plans are in compliance with the conditions placed on the approval, the applicant may submit the revised ~~projectsubdivision~~ plans to the Planning Board as an approved plan amendment. in accordance with Sec. 16-2-3(a)(1) of this Ordinance for minor subdivisions or Sec. 16-2-4(c)(1) of this Ordinance for major subdivisions.

(b) Plan Recording. Once the plans are determined to be in compliance with the Planning Board approval, the recording plan shall be properly signed by a majority of the Planning Board, and shall be recorded by the subdivider in the Cumberland County Registry of Deeds. If the subdivision approval includes phasing of the subdivision, the recording plan shall depict all phases of the subdivision. Any final plans not so recorded within ninety (90) days following the date of Planning Board Decision shall become null and void. The applicant may request, prior to the expiration date, that the Planning Board grant an extension due to particular

1 circumstances of the applicant which extension shall not exceed an additional period of
2 ninety (90) days. Once recorded, the subdivider shall provide the Planner with three (3) paper
3 copies of the subdivision plat with the Planning Board signatures and the book and page
4 recording information from the Registry of Deeds.

5
6 **(c) Performance Guarantee.** There shall be no sale of lots, nor building permits issued, nor site
7 work commenced until a Performance Guarantee has been approved by and posted with the
8 Town of Cape Elizabeth Town Manager.

- 9
10 1. Form. The Performance Guarantee shall be in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit
11 or escrow account in favor of the Town. Such Performance Guarantee shall be
12 satisfactory to the Town Manager and to the Town Attorney as to the issuer, substantive
13 sufficiency, surety and manner of execution. All performance guarantees shall contain a
14 provision requiring the issuer to notify the Town Manager in writing of the scheduled
15 expiration date at least thirty (30) days and not more than ninety (90) days in advance
16 of its scheduled expiration date. Extensions of the Performance Guarantee may be
17 granted by the Town Manager for up to three (3) years from the initial expiration date
18 at the request of the applicant for good cause.
19
20 2. Amount. The Performance Guarantee amount shall be based on a detailed estimate
21 prepared by the applicant, broken down by unit cost and quantity, and reviewed by the
22 Town Engineer. Costs included in the estimate shall include, but not be limited to,
23 completion of all roads, sewer, water, drainage, open space, landscaping, lighting and
24 other required improvements shown on the approved plans. The cost estimate shall also
25 include a contingency amount equal to ten (10) percent of the Performance Guarantee
26 estimate. When the Performance Guarantee estimate exceeds two hundred fifty
27 thousand (\$250,000) dollars, the contingency amount shall be calculated at a rate of
28 five (5) percent for that portion of the Performance Guarantee estimate in excess of
29 two-hundred fifty thousand (\$250,000) dollars.
30
31 3. Phasing. When the Planning Board has approved phasing of a ~~project subdivision~~, a
32 Performance Guarantee may be posted for one (1) or more phases. The amount, terms
33 and conditions of the Performance Guarantee shall correspond with the phase or phases
34 scheduled to be constructed. Construction activity shall only be located and permitted
35 in phases for which a Performance Guarantee has been posted.
36
37 4. Reductions and Release. All requests for reduction or release of the Performance
38 Guarantee shall be submitted in writing to the Town Manager. Reduction requests
39 should only be submitted after significant construction has been accomplished. Prior to
40 approving a reduction or release of a Performance Guarantee, the Town Manager shall
41 request a report from the Town Engineer confirming the quality and value of the
42 construction completed. Any reduction or release shall preserve the Town's ability to
43 require or complete construction that is consistent with the approved plans and the
44 Town's construction standards and/or restore and stabilize the site if construction will
45 not be continued. There shall be no final release of any Performance Guarantee until the
46 record drawings have been received and approved by the Town Engineer.

1
2 **(d) Inspection Fee.** In addition to the Performance Guarantee, the applicant shall pay an
3 inspection fee. When the Performance Guarantee equals five hundred thousand dollars
4 (\$500,000) or less, the inspection fee amount shall be five percent (5%) of the amount of the
5 total performance guarantee, except that the minimum inspection fee amount shall be one-
6 thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500). When the Performance Guarantee exceeds five
7 hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000), the inspection fee amount shall be two and one-half
8 percent (2.5%) of the cost of the total Performance Guarantee. The fee shall be payable to the
9 Town of Cape Elizabeth. The inspection fee shall be held by the Town to defray the Town's
10 cost for inspection by the Town Engineer and Town staff. Any funds not disbursed for this
11 purpose shall be returned to the applicant upon release of the Performance Guarantee. If the
12 costs for inspection exceed the amount of the inspection fee, the applicant shall pay an
13 additional fee to the Town, which shall be recommended by the Town Engineer and
14 approved by the Town Manager based on the status of the development project.

15
16 ~~**(e) Record drawings.** Upon completion of construction, the subdivider or, when a private road~~
17 ~~is built, the owner shall present to the Town one (1) set of reproducible mylar, one (1) hard~~
18 ~~copy, and digital files in a format used by the project engineer during project design or other~~
19 ~~format approved by the Public Works Director suitable for import into the Town Geographic~~
20 ~~Information System (GIS). The record drawings shall be based on the field logs of the~~
21 ~~construction monitor and of a quality acceptable to the Town. The record drawings shall~~
22 ~~include an engineer's seal, distances, angles and bearings for complete and accurate~~
23 ~~determinations of locations on the ground, right-of-way monuments and as set, as built~~
24 ~~profiles of the centerlines of traveled ways, ledge elevations encountered during construction~~
25 ~~and information on the locations, size, materials and elevations of storm drains, sanitary~~
26 ~~sewers and other underground utility lines, including but not limited to water, electric,~~
27 ~~telephone, natural gas, cable television.~~

28 29 **Sec. 16-2-7. Construction Administration**

30 **(a) Commencement of Construction.** At least ten (10) days prior to commencing construction
31 of required improvements, the applicant subdivider shall request a pre-construction meeting
32 with the Town ~~Engineer~~ Manager. At the meeting, the applicant subdivider shall submit plans
33 for construction of the project subdivision and notify the Town ~~Engineer~~ Manager when
34 construction of such improvements will commence. The applicant subdivider is also
35 responsible for communicating ongoing progress of construction so that the Town can cause
36 inspections and so that requirements shall be met during construction and to assure
37 satisfactory completion of all improvements and utilities required by the Planning Board.
38 [Revised eff. 11/11/83; Revised eff. 6/13/90]

39
40 **(b) Site Controls.** Prior to site clearance or any alteration of the site, continuous, physical
41 markers or barriers (for example reflective surveyor's tape or orange snow fencing) shall be
42 installed on the site to mark the boundaries of "no-clear areas" and proposed open space and
43 shall be inspected by the Town Engineer or their designated project inspector. Markers and
44 barriers must be easily visible to equipment operators during site clearance and construction

and shall be installed to accurately represent the Planning Board approved plans. At the completion of construction, the applicant and Town Engineer shall confirm that construction has not encroached on “no-clear areas” and proposed open space utilizing the approved plans, the site marker digital record, and as-built conditions. Encroachment into these areas shall require submission to the Planning Board of a plan amendment that includes mitigation and replanting within areas of encroachments. The Planning Board may also recommend to the Town Council that a fine be assessed for the removal of vegetation that was proposed to be preserved and then removed during project construction.

(cb) Notice of Inspection. To assure proper inspection of roads and other required improvements, the Town Engineer should be given not less than twenty-four (24) hour notice by the ~~applicant subdivider~~ for inspections required at the following construction stages: (1) before backfilling of any surface water, sanitary sewer, domestic water or other underground lines or improvements, (2) at completion of road subgrades and after installation of gravel surface, (3) at the commencement of paving, loaming, or other final surface preparation, and (4) upon final completion.

(de) ~~Inspection- Supervision~~ of Required Improvements. A site manager shall be designated by the applicant for any project subject to a Performance Guarantee. The name and contact information for the site manager shall be provided to the Town Engineer and the site manager shall be responsible for keeping the applicant informed of Town communications. The site manager shall provide a schedule of construction to the Town Engineer, as well as notification when significant construction shall be taking place. All required subdivision improvements for which a Performance Guarantee are required shall be constructed under the observation of a qualified construction monitor. The qualifications of the construction monitor shall be subject to the review and approval of the Town. Construction monitoring costs shall be borne by the subdivider. ~~The construction monitor site manager~~ shall be on the site during all periods of time when significant construction is taking place. Significant construction shall include (1) embankments, (2) bedding and backfilling of all underground utilities including water lines, unless the installation is supervised by the utility company, (3) installation of storm drainage and associated structures, (4) installation of sanitary sewers and associated structures, (5) roadway subbase material, (6) roadway base material, (7) paving, (8) compaction testing, and (9) sewer and manhole testing. The duties of the site manager ~~construction monitor~~ shall also include (1) knowledge of product reports and material submittals, (2) maintenance of a diary of construction progress, and (3) implementation of remedial measures.

(ed) Authority of Town Engineer. The Town Engineer shall have access to the site at all times to review the progress of the work and shall have the authority to review the field logs maintained by the ~~site manager construction monitor~~. Any deficiencies noted by the Town Engineer shall be brought to the attention of the site manager ~~construction monitor~~ who shall see that remedial measures are taken.

If the Town Engineer finds upon inspection of required improvements, including an inspection to be done by the Town Engineer before expiration of the Performance Guarantee, that any of such improvements are not constructed in accordance with plans and specifications filed by the ~~applicant subdivider~~, or that in the Town Engineer’s judgment the

applicant will be unable to complete the required improvement within the period specified in the Performance Guarantee, the Town Engineer shall then so notify the applicant subdivider and the Town Manager, who shall take all necessary steps to preserve the rights of the Town under the Performance Guarantee, including authorization to the Town Engineer to stop the construction of said improvements.

(fe) Field Changes. If at any time before or during the construction of the required improvements the applicant subdivider demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Town Engineer that unforeseen conditions make it desirable to modify the design of such improvements, the Town Engineer may, in consultation with the Public Works Director and Planner, authorize modifications provided that they are within the spirit and intent of the Planning Board approval and do not constitute waiver or substantial alteration of the function of any improvements required by the Planning Board. The Town Engineer shall issue any authorization under this section in writing, and shall transmit a copy of such authorization to the Planner and Planning Board.

(gf) Record drawings. Upon completion of construction, the applicant subdivider shall present to the Town one (1) set of reproducible mylar, one (1) hard copy, and digital files in a format used by the project engineer during project design or other format approved by the Public Works Director suitable for import into the Town Geographic Information System (GIS).~~one (1) electronic file of record drawings indicating facilities as constructed.~~ The record drawings shall be based on the field logs of the site manager construction monitor and of a quality acceptable to the Town. The record drawings shall include an engineer's seal, distances, angles and bearings for complete and accurate determinations of locations on the ground, right-of-way monuments and as set, as-built profiles of the centerlines of traveled ways, ledge elevations encountered during construction and information on the locations, size, materials and elevations of storm drains, sanitary sewers and other underground utility lines, including but not limited to water, electric, telephone, natural gas, cable television.

(hg) Completion and Acceptance. Upon completion of the project subdivision infrastructure, the applicant subdivider shall request that the Town Council accept proposed public improvements. The request shall include confirmation from the Town Manager that the improvements have been constructed consistent with the approved plans and town construction standards and that any applicable deeds have been submitted in a form acceptable to the Town Attorney and signed by the applicant subdivider. The applicant shall be required to maintain all improvements and to provide for snow removal on roads and sidewalks, until their acceptance by the Town or the assumption of those responsibilities under such other approved arrangements. Any applicable Storm water Maintenance Plan shall also be recorded in the Cumberland County Registry of Deeds.

Sec. 16-3-2. Road-Infrastructure Design and Construction Standards. The purposes of the infrastructure subdivision road construction standards are to minimize traffic safety hazards and the cost of municipal maintenance and reconstruction, to ensure that roads are consistent with the Town's rural character, to promote a sense of community, and to be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. The standards shall be flexible where an applicant can demonstrate that alternative approaches will meet the above stated purposes. Roads, sidewalks, parking areas and accessways within a project subdivision shall be classified by the Planning Board in accordance

1 with their location and their present and contemplated usage. A road which is likely to be
2 upgraded in classification in the foreseeable future shall be laid out to the standards of the
3 potential future classification. The widths and grades for all ~~project subdivision~~ roads shall be
4 determined in accordance with the **Road Classification Standards Table**, subject to the
5 following qualifications:

- 6 1. Where an existing road with right-of-way of less than fifty (50) feet is being extended, the
7 new right-of-way may be the same width as the existing road upon approval by the Planning
8 Board and Public Works Director.
9
- 10 2. Width of right-of-way may be forty (40) feet for a road shorter than three-hundred (300) feet
11 which ends in a cul-de-sac, upon approval by the Planning Board and Town Engineer.
12
- 13 3. Notwithstanding the **Road Classification Standards Table**, dead-end roads in excess of one
14 thousand (1,000) feet in length must comply with Sec. 16-3-2 (a)(9) of this Ordinance.
15
- 16 4. ~~Right-of-Way~~. The Planning Board, with the advice of the Town Engineer, may require
17 rights-of-way wider than those set forth in the **Road Classification Standards Table**, in
18 order to satisfy the purposes of this Ordinance.
19
20

21 **B. Road Infrastructure Construction**

22 1. Clearing

- 23
- 24 a. Prior to site alteration, a land surveyor registered in the State of Maine shall mark the
25 layout of the road and verify for the Town Engineer that the layout is in conformance
26 with the approved plans.
27
- 28 b. The construction area shall be selectively cleared of all trees, brush and vegetation
29 only as necessary for construction of the roadway, shoulder, utilities and any drainage
30 ways as approved by the Planning Board. Clearing provisions shall be accomplished
31 in accordance with the most recent revision of the Standard Specifications of the
32 Maine Department of Transportation, Section 201.
33
- 34 c. Limits of clearing shall be marked in the field and may be inspected by the Town
35 Engineer prior to further site preparation. In a Rural Connector, a ten (10) foot wide
36 strip shall be preserved at the edge of the right-of-way, where a sidewalk path may be
37 placed. The ten (10) foot wide strip shall be retained in a natural state and serve as a
38 buffer, although trimming may be allowed to preserve scenic views.
39

40 2. Grading to Subgrade

41
42 The roadway shall be brought to subgrade through the process of excavation and/or
43 placement of fill. Such earthwork shall be accomplished in compliance with the technical
44 provisions of Section 203 of said MDOT Specifications. Blasted ledge, which is, less
45 than fourteen (14) inches in any dimension, may be used as fill up to a level one foot and

one-half (1.5) feet below subgrade, and shall be mixed with sufficient finer material to make a firm, stable embankment.

3. Base-Gravel for Roadways, & Sidewalks, and Parking areas. The total gravel courses shall be a minimum of one and one-half (1.5) feet in depth for roads, parking, access and circulation areas. When subgrade materials are marginal, the Town Engineer may require additional subbase or base gravel.

a. SubBase Gravel Course. ~~The gravel base course shall be a minimum of one and one-half (1.5) feet in depth. When subgrade materials are marginal, the Town Engineer may require additional base gravel.~~ The lower subbase course shall be a minimum of fifteen (15) inches ~~one (1) foot~~ of material and shall conform to the requirement of Section 703.06 (b). Types D ~~or E~~ of the said MDOT Specifications, except that no particle of rock shall exceed three (3) inches as determined by a three (3) inch square mesh sieve.

b. Base Gravel Upper Course. The base gravel course shall be upper-three (3) six (6) inches of material shall conform to the requirements of Section 703.06 (a). Types A and B of said MDOT Specifications except that maximum particle size for Type B shall be two (2) three (3) inches.

c. Compaction. The total base gravel shall be placed and compacted in accordance with technical requirements of Section 304 of said MDOT Specifications. Initial compaction tests shall be taken at a minimum interval of every fifty (50) linear feet along the roadway for each lift of material placed, and then compaction tests at a greater separation if initial tests pass. Retesting of any failed areas must be conducted after remedial action has been accomplished. Additional compaction tests may be required by the Public Works Director.

d. Sidewalk. Gravel for sidewalk base shall be ~~eight (8)~~ twelve (12) inches in depth and shall meet the requirements of Section 703.06 (a) of said MDOT specifications, Types A, B, or D, placed in one lift compacted to ninety-five (95) percent of optimum density.

e. Esplanade. The base of the esplanade located between the road and the sidewalk shall not be filled with gravel. The underlying material under the loam layer shall be common borrow or a similar material conducive to tree growth. The maximum grade of the esplanade cross-slope shall be two (2) percent.

4. Paving.

a. HMA. Paving shall be of Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) meeting the requirements of Section 401 and 403 of said MDOT Specifications. Placement of HMA shall conform to MDOT Specifications (Section 401). Sidewalk HMA shall be placed in two (2) one and one quarter (1.25) inch lifts using 9.5 mm (fine) mix. HMA thickness shall be as follows:

	Pavement Base Course	Pavement Surface Course	Pavement Surface Course	Total
	10 mm Mix unless otherwise noted	12.5 mm Mix, except local roads which shall be 9.5 mm	9.5 mm fine Mix	
Arterial	2.5 inches	1.5 inches	--	4 inches
Collector	2.5 inches	1.5 inches	--	4 inches
Rural Connector	2.5 inches	1.5 inches	--	4 inches
Feeder	2.5 inches	1.5 inches	--	4 inches
Local Roads	2.5 inches of 19 mm	1.5 inches	--	4 inches
Sidewalks	--		2.5 inches	2.5 inches
Parking	2.5 inches	1.5 inches		4 inches

- b. Base Course.** The HMA base course shall be 12.5 mm or 19 mm mix for all classes of roads, sidewalks, access and parking areas., ~~except local roads and sidewalks which shall be 9.5 mm mix as defined in Section 703.09 of said MDOT Specifications. Sidewalk paving shall be 9.5 mm (fine) mix.~~
- c. Surface Course.** The HMA surface course shall be 9.5 mm mix for all classes of roads, sidewalks, access and parking areas. The Public Works Director may approve use of 12.5 mm mix when not part of a subdivision.
- d. Placement.** Placement of all HMA shall be in compliance with the technical requirements of Section 401 of said MDOT Specifications.

Road Classifications Standards Table

	Right of Way	Traveled Way	Minimum Intersection Sight Distance	Width of Shoulder	Horizontal Sight Distance	Design Speed	Sidewalk	Esplanade	Center Line Radius
ARTERIAL	52'	24'	200'	5'	200-400	30-45	5' (1)	5'	300-800
COLLECTOR	50'	24'	200'	1'	200-250	30-35	5' (1)	6'	300-400
RURAL CONNECTOR	66' 50'	24'	200'	4'	200-250	30-35	5'	7'	300-400
FEEDER	50'	24'	150'	0'	150-200	25-30	5'	7'	150-300
LOCAL	50'	22'	125'	0'	125-150	20-25	5'	8'	125-150
(1) Either sidewalk or bikeway. Width should increase for dual purpose									

1
2 **Sec. 16-3-3. ~~Design of Other Improvements~~ Reserved**

3 **CA. Storm and Surface Water Drainage** [move from Sec. 16-3-3 to 16-3-2]

- 4 1. Storm water collection and transport systems shall comply with the Town of Cape
5 Elizabeth Stormwater and Non-Stormwater Control Ordinance, Chapter 18, Article II and
6 the Town of Cape Elizabeth Post Construction Stormwater Management Ordinance,
7 Chapter 18, Article IV.
8
9 2. Ditches, where permitted, on the approved plans shall have a slope of at least two (2)
10 percent and side slopes not exceeding three to one (3:1). Where required to prevent
11 erosion, ditches shall be rippedraped, sodded, or otherwise protected.
12
13 3. Storm drain pipelines and culverts shall be installed in accordance with the technical
14 requirements of Section 603 of said MDOT Specifications. All pipes shall be designed to
15 withstand earth backfill plus H-20 wheel loadings. Trench backfill over drain lines within
16 the paved way shall be compacted to ninety-five (95) percent of optimum density.
17 Outside of paved areas backfill shall be compacted to ninety (90) percent of optimum
18 density.
19
20 4. When required to assure a stable subbase, rigid perforated underdrain pipe shall be
21 installed in accordance with the technical requirements of Section 605 of said MDOT
22 Specifications. Coiled underdrain pipe will not be permitted. (Revised eff. 12/10/03)
23
24 5. Manholes and catch basins on storm drain lines shall meet the technical requirements of
25 Section 604 of said MDOT Specifications. Shop drawings for the units desired for use
26 shall be submitted to the Town Engineer for approval prior to placement.
27
28 6. Upon the advice of the Town Engineer, the Town Council may require an applicant to
29 construct storm or sanitary sewers at a greater depth or of larger diameter than is required
30 to serve the area being ~~developed~~ subdivided, when said greater depth or larger diameter
31 is deemed necessary to provide proper service for adjacent areas.

32 **DB. Underground Utility Lines** [moved from Sec. 16-3-3 to 16-3-2]
33

34 **Sec. 16-3-4. Additional Standards. Reserved.**

35 ~~(a) **Right of Way.** The Planning Board with the advice of the Town Engineer may require~~
36 ~~rights of way wider than those set forth in the **Road Classification Standards Table**, in~~
37 ~~order to satisfy the purposes of this Ordinance.~~

38
39 ~~(b) **Reserved**~~

40
41 ~~(c) **Sewers.** Upon the advice of the Town Engineer, the Town Council may require an applicant~~
42 ~~to construct storm or sanitary sewers at a greater depth or of larger diameter than is required~~
43 ~~to serve the area being subdivided, when said greater depth or larger diameter is deemed~~
44 ~~necessary to provide proper service for adjacent areas.~~

1 **Sec. 16-3-6. Legal Provisions**

2
3 **(c) Amendments to the Subdivision Ordinance.** This Ordinance may be amended by the Town
4 Council following the procedure outlined in Sec. ~~19-10-3 19-4-9~~ of the Zoning Ordinance.
5

ZONING ORDINANCE

SEC. 19-1-3. DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Ordinance, the following terms, words, and phrases shall have the meanings given herein. All words not defined herein shall carry their customary and usual meanings. Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense. Words used in the singular shall include the plural. Where so indicated by the text, these definitions also include substantive regulations. Where reference is made to Town or State laws, ordinances, or regulations, each reference to a particular law, regulation, or section shall include all amendments and successor sections.

Accessory Building or Structure: A detached, subordinate building, the use of which is clearly incidental and related to that of the principal building or use of the land and which is located on the same lot as the principal building or use. Any accessory building or structure that has plumbing shall not be used for overnight accommodation. For residential uses, accessory buildings and structures shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. garage
2. gazebo
3. greenhouse
4. home workshop, as defined below
5. recreational facilities for the use of occupants of the residence, such as a swimming pool or a tennis court, and related structures
6. Agricultural or aquacultural buildings or other structures (Effective June 10, 2010)
7. wharf, dock, landing, or boathouse
8. Emergency power generators not exceeding 30 KW.

Height, Building: Except for buildings located in the Shoreland Performance Overlay District, The vertical distance from the average original grade to the top of the highest roof beams of a flat roof, or to the mean level of the highest gable or slope of a hip roof. When a building faces on more than one (1) street, the height shall be measured from the average of the original grades at the center of the face of the building fronting on each street. Where the original grade steeply slopes to the extent that the building face along the road frontage will be located below the elevation of the road and within fifty (50) feet of the edge of the road right-of-way, the building height shall be measured from the average finished grade that allows the building first floor elevation facing the street to be constructed up to two (2') feet above the road elevation. Architecturally appropriate building tops, such as but not limited to spires and clock towers, which are not occupied, shall not be included in the measurement of the height of the building.

Height of a structure: For buildings located in the Shoreland Performance Overlay District, the vertical distance between the mean original (prior to construction) grade at the downhill side of the structure and the highest point of the structure, excluding chimneys, steeples, antennas, and similar appurtenances that have no floor area.

1 **Low Income:** Family income which is between fifty percent (50%) and eighty percent (80%) of
2 median family income for the Portland Metropolitan Statistical Area as established by the Maine
3 State Housing Authority.~~State Planning Office or the Greater Portland Council of Governments.~~

4
5 **Moderate Income:** Family income which is between eighty percent (80%) and one hundred
6 twenty percent (120%) of median family income for the Portland Metropolitan Statistical Area as
7 established by the Maine State Housing Authority.~~State Planning Office or the Greater Portland~~
8 ~~Council of Governments.~~

9 10 **SEC. 19-3-2. APPROVALS AND PERMITS REQUIRED**

11
12 Activities involving the use of land, the construction, structural alteration, repair, enlargement or
13 relocation of a building or structure, or the demolition of a building or structure may require
14 approvals and/or permits under the requirements of this Ordinance. No activity subject to an
15 approval and/or permit shall commence until after the issuance of all required approvals and
16 permits. A person who is issued a permit pursuant to this Ordinance within the Shoreland
17 Performance Overlay District or any Resource Protection District shall have a copy of the permit
18 on site while the work authorized by the permit is performed. (Effective October 15, 2009). The
19 following activities require approvals or permits:

20 21 **C. Building Permit**

22
23 1. Building Permit required. No construction, structural alteration, enlargement, or
24 relocation of a building or structure shall commence until after the issuance of a
25 Building Permit by the Code Enforcement Officer in accordance with Sec. 19-3-3,
26 Building Permits.

27
28 2. Telecommunications. No installation of an amateur or governmental wireless
29 telecommunication facility antenna which extends 15' feet or more from the roof of a
30 structure shall occur until after the issuance of a Building Permit by the Code
31 Enforcement Officer in accordance with Sec. 19-3-3. No installation of a commercial
32 wireless telecommunication antenna on an alternative tower structure shall occur until
33 after the issuance of a Building Permit by the Code Enforcement Officer in
34 accordance with Sec. 19-3-3, except that the Code Enforcement Officer may refer the
35 antenna installation application to the Planning Board for review under Sec. 19-9, Site
36 Plan Review and Sec. 19-8-12, Tower and Antenna Performance Standards, if the
37 antenna concealment is not complete. (Effective April 15, 2000)

38
39 3. Wind Energy. No installation of a wind energy system shall occur until after the
40 issuance of a Building Permit by the Code Enforcement Officer in accordance with
41 Sec. 19-3-3 and a determination by the Code Enforcement Office that the
42 performance standards in Sec. 19-8-13. Wind Energy Systems, have been met.

43 44 45 **ARTICLE IV. NONCONFORMANCE**

1 **SEC. 19-4-3. NONCONFORMANCE WITH ALL ZONING DISTRICTS EXCEPT THE**
2 **SHORELAND AND RESOURCE PROTECTION DISTRICTS**

3
4 The following provisions shall govern the use and modification of nonconforming lots,
5 structures, and uses in all areas of the Town that do not comply with Zoning District
6 requirements, except for the Shoreland Performance Overlay District or a Resource Protection
7 District. Nonconform~~ances~~^{ances} with~~in~~ the Shoreland Performance Overlay District requirements
8 shall be governed by the provisions of Sec. 19-4-4~~2~~. Nonconformance Within the Shoreland
9 Protection Overlay District, and nonconform~~ances~~^{ances} within the Resource Protection Districts
10 (RP1-CW, RP1-CW Buffer Overlay, RP2-WP and RP3-F) shall be governed by the provisions of
11 Sec. 19-4-5, Nonconformance Within the Resource Protection Districts.

12
13 **A. Nonconforming Lots**

14
15 **2. Developed Nonconforming Lots**

16
17 a. Single Lots. A single nonconforming lot that is improved with a principal
18 building or structure may continue to be used. Any existing principal or
19 accessory building or structure may be modified, enlarged, or relocated or a new
20 building or structure constructed even though it does not conform to the setback
21 requirements of the district in which it is located provided that such
22 modification, construction, or relocation conforms to the standards, except
23 minimum lot size, set forth in Sec. 19-4-3.A.1.~~I.a.~~ above.

24
25 **ARTICLE V. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS**

26
27 **SEC. 19-5-4. VARIANCES**

28
29 **A. Variance Application ~~Criteria for Approval~~**

30
31 1. Procedure.

32
33 a. Prior to submitting a formal application for a variance, the applicant should
34 meet with the Code Enforcement Officer to informally discuss the proposed
35 application and the review process. The purpose of this informational meeting
36 is to allow the applicant to understand the process and clarify any questions
37 before submitting a formal application.

38
39 b. An application for a variance shall be made to the Code Enforcement Officer
40 on forms provided for that purpose.

41
42 c. The application form shall be accompanied by the supporting materials set
43 forth in Sec. 19-5-4 A (2), Submission Requirements, and an application fee.

44
45 d. The application shall be processed in accordance with the procedures set forth
46 in Sec. 19-5-2, Powers and Duties.

2. Submission Requirements. The applicant's submission shall include the following:

a. A completed and signed application form

b. The appropriate fee

c. The location of the proposed use, including Assessor's tax map and lot number, and a location map

d. A description of the proposed construction which requires the variance, the setback required by ordinance, the setback proposed to accommodate the proposed construction and the requested amount of setback reduction.

e. A standard boundary survey of the property, or at a minimum of the property line (s) where the variance would be applied, and the location, drawn to scale of existing and proposed buildings (noting the location of the variance), important natural features, and driveways.

f. Written statement demonstrating how the application complies with each of the standards of Sec. 19-5-2 B.

3. Standards of review. The Board may grant a variance from the provisions of this Ordinance only if it finds that literal enforcement of the Ordinance will cause a practical difficulty as defined in Sec. 19-5-2.B, ~~-Variances. Powers and Duties.~~

B. Conditions

The Board may impose such conditions to a variance as it deems necessary. The applicant shall comply with all conditions imposed.

SEC. 19-5-6. NONCONFORMING EXPANSIONS

The purpose of this section is to establish the procedures to enable the Town to review applications for nonconforming expansions allowed in Article IV, Nonconformance.

A. Procedure.

1. Prior to submitting a formal application for a nonconforming expansion, the applicant should meet with the Code Enforcement Officer to informally discuss the proposed application and the review process. The purpose of this informational meeting is to allow the applicant to understand the process and clarify any questions before submitting a formal application.

2. An application for a nonconforming expansion shall be made to the Code Enforcement Officer on forms provided for that purpose.
3. The application form shall be accompanied by the supporting materials set forth in Sec. 19-5-6 B, Submission Requirements, and an application fee.
4. The application shall be processed in accordance with the procedures set forth in Sec. 19-5-2, Powers and Duties.

B. Submission Requirements. The applicant's submission shall include the following:

1. A completed and signed application form
2. The appropriate fee
3. A site plan of the property, drawn to scale with a title block including the name of the applicant and address of the property, showing the following:
 - a. location of existing and proposed buildings, and the nearest buildings on adjacent properties;
 - b. existing and proposed setbacks;
 - c. topography;
 - d. important natural features including existing vegetated buffers;
 - e. existing and proposed subsurface wastewater disposal system;
 - f. driveways; and
 - g. other information recommended by the Code Enforcement Officer.
4. A written statement demonstrating how the proposed application meets the standards of the ordinance to the greatest practical extent in accordance with Sec. 19-9-4 B (2). The statement shall address:
 - a. Size of the lot
 - b. Slope of the land
 - c. Soil erosion potential
 - d. Location of other structures on the property and on adjacent properties;
 - e. Location of subsurface wastewater disposal systems;
 - f. Impact on views;
 - g. Type and amount of vegetation proposed to be removed and replanting plan.

C. Standards of review. The Board shall review the application for compliance with the standards in Sec. 19-4-4B (2).

1 **ARTICLE VI. DISTRICT REGULATIONS**

2
3 ***SEC. 19-6-1. RESIDENCE A DISTRICT (RA)***

4
5 ***E. Standards***

6
7 2. The following Space and Bulk Standards shall apply:
8

MINIMUM SETBACKS	
(1) All uses unless otherwise specified	
a. Side yards setback	30 ft. The side yard setback may be reduced in accordance with Sec. 19-4-3.A. Developed Nonconforming Lot (Effective August 11, 1999)
b. Rear yard setback	30 ft. The rear yard setback may be reduced in accordance with Sec. 19-4-3.A. Developed Nonconforming Lot (Effective August 11, 1999)
c. Front yard setback	The front yard setbacks set forth below may be reduced, only on roads which are not classified arterial, to the average setback of the two principal structures fronting on the same road in close proximity to the site of the proposed structure, but any structure must be at least 20 feet from the right-of-way
-- Arterial street	50 ft.
-- Collector, rural connector, and feeder streets	40 ft.
-- Local and private streets	30 ft.
(2) Eldercare facilities (Effective November 14, 2015)	
a. From property line	75 ft.
(3) Accessory structures with floor area not greater than 100 square feet and a height not greater than 8-1/2 feet from average grade	
a. Side yard setback	10 5 ft.
b. Rear yard setback	5 ft.
(4) Reserved (Effective June 10, 2010)	
(5) Antennas extending from 15' to 25' measured from the highest point of the alternative tower structure	

SEC. 19-6-2. RESIDENCE B DISTRICT (RB)

E. Standards

2. The following Space and Bulk Standards shall apply:

MINIMUM SETBACKS	
(1) All uses unless otherwise specified	
a. Side yard setback	30 ft. The side yard setback may be reduced in accordance with Sec. 19-4-3.A.2, Developed Nonconforming Lots. (Effective August 11, 1999)
b. Rear yard setback	30 ft. The rear yard setback may be reduced in accordance with Sec. 19-4-3.A.2, Developed Nonconforming Lots. (Effective August 11, 1999)
c. Front yard setback	The front yard setbacks set forth below may be reduced, only on roads which are not classified arterial, to the average setback of the two principal structures fronting on the same road in closest proximity to the site of the proposed structure, but any structure must be at least 20 feet from the right-of-way.
- Arterial street	50 ft.
- Collector, rural connector, and feeder streets	40 ft.
- Local and private street	30 ft.
d. Limit on parking within the front yard	A nonresidential use shall not locate its required off-street parking within the front yard setback.
(2) Eldercare facilities (Effective November 14, 2015)	
a. From property line	75 ft.

(3) Accessory structures with floor area not greater than 100 square feet and a height not greater than 8-1/2 feet from average grade	
a. Side yard setback	10 ft. <u>5 ft.</u>
b. Rear yard setback	5 ft.
(4) Reserved (Effective June 10, 2010)	

SEC. 19-6-3. RESIDENCE C DISTRICT (RC)

E. Standards

2. The following Space and Bulk Standards shall apply:

MINIMUM SETBACKS	
(1) All uses unless otherwise specified	
a. Side yard setback	20 ft. The side yard setback may be reduced in accordance with Sec. 19-4-3.A.2, Developed Nonconforming Lots. (Effective August 11, 1999)
b. Rear yard setback	20 ft. The rear yard setback may be reduced in accordance with Sec. 19-4-3.A.2, Developed Nonconforming Lots. (Effective August 11, 1999)
c. Front yard setback	The front yard setbacks set forth below may be reduced, only on roads which are not classified arterial, to the average setback of the two principal structures fronting on the same road in closest proximity to the site of the proposed structure, but any structure must be at least 20 feet from the right-of-way.
-- Arterial Street	40 ft.
-- Collector and rural connector streets	40 ft.

-- Feeder street	30 ft.
-- Local and private streets	20 ft.
(2) Eldercare facilities (Effective November 14, 2015)	
a. From property line	75 ft.
(3) Accessory structures with floor area not greater than 100 square feet and a height not greater than 8-1/2 feet from average grade	
a. Side yard setback	10 ft. <u>5 ft.</u>
b. Rear yard setback	5 ft.

[Note: No change is proposed in the Town Center District because there is currently no special treatment for accessory structures with a floor area no greater than 100 sq. ft. Accessory structures up to 150 sq. ft. have a 10 ft. side and rear yard setback. No change is proposed in the Business A District because accessory structures with a floor area of no greater than 100 sq. ft. currently have a 5 ft. side and rear yard setback]

SEC. 19-6-6 BUSINESS DISTRICT B (BB)

E. Standards

2. The following Space and Bulk Standards shall apply:

MINIMUM SETBACKS	
(1) All uses unless otherwise specified	
a. Side yard setback	25 ft. 50 ft. if the lot abuts a Residence District
b. Rear yard setback	25 ft. 50 ft. if the lot abuts a Residence District

c. Front yard setback	The front yard setbacks set forth below may be reduced, only on roads which are not classified arterial, to the average setback of the two principal structures fronting on the same road in closest proximity to the site of the proposed structure, but any structure must be at least 20 feet from the right-of-way
-- Buildings with footprints of up to 2,000 sq. ft.	50 ft.
-- Buildings with footprints of more than 2,000 sq. ft.	50 ft. (Effective January 13, 2005)
-- Parking spaces and parking aisles	35 ft.
(2) Nonresidential use abutting a Residence District	A buffer shall be established in accordance with the provisions of Sec. 19-8-1.A Buffering of Nonresidential Uses
(3) Eldercare facilities	50 ft. from property line
(4) Accessory structures with floor area not greater than 100 square feet and a height not greater than 8-1/2 feet from average grade	
a. Side yard setback	10 ft. <u>5 ft.</u>
b. Rear yard setback	5 ft.

[Note: No change is proposed in the Business B, Fort Williams Park District, Resource Protection Districts and Town Farm District because there is currently no special treatment for accessory structures with a floor area no greater than 100 sq. ft.]

SEC. 19-7-8. OFF-STREET PARKING

C. Off-Street Parking Design Standards

9. Parking Area surface. Parking areas required under Sec. 19-7-8 may be a paved, gravel or grass surface.

a. Paved or gravel. Parking areas subject to Planning Board review shall be constructed to meet the standards in Sec. 16-3-2.B, Infrastructure

1 Construction, if proposed to be paved or have a gravel surface. An existing
2 parking area that may not meet standards may be approved by the Planning
3 Board, with the advice of the Town Engineer and demonstration that it can
4 support expected vehicle loading.

5
6 **b. Grass.** A grass surface parking area may be approved by the Planning Board
7 for temporary parking, and the Planning Board may require demonstration
8 that the grassed parking can support expected vehicle loading.

9 **ARTICLE IX. SITE PLAN REVIEW**

10
11 **SEC. 19-9-4. REVIEW PROCEDURES**

12
13 **B. Application Review Procedures**

- 14
15 4. Performance Guarantee/Post Approval. The Planning Board, at its discretion, may
16 require that a performance guarantee be established with the Town for the cost of
17 site improvements. Each performance guarantee shall comply with Sec. 16-2-6(c)
18 of the Subdivision Ordinance. An inspection fee shall be paid in accordance with
19 Sec. 16-2-6(d). When a project includes a performance guarantee, the applicant
20 shall manage project construction schedule ~~schedule a pre-construction meeting~~ in
21 accordance with Sec. 16-2-7(~~a~~) of the Subdivision Ordinance. Upon completion of
22 construction, record drawings shall be submitted to the Town in accordance with
23 Sec. 16-2-7(~~g~~f) if any infrastructure has been installed in the public right-of-way or
24 easement conveyed to the Town.
25
26
27